The State of South Carolina  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Appeal from Horry County  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
SC Court of Appeals  
FEB 27 2018

Appellate Case No. 2017-001258  
Case No. 2015-CP-26-00034

Christine LeFont, ..... Appellant,

v.

City of Myrtle Beach; Myrtle Beach  
Convention Center Hotel Corporation, ..... Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Stephen L. Goldfinch, Jr.  
Thomas W. Winslow  
Ryan P. Compton  
**GOLDFINCH WINSLOW, LLC**  
Post Office Box 829  
Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576  
t. 843.357.9301 / f. 843.357.9303

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

The State of South Carolina

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the circuit court err in granting a directed verdict to the City on the grounds that LeFont was a licensee as a matter of law even though there was conflicting evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer that she was an invitee?
  
2. Did the circuit court err in granting a directed verdict to the City on the grounds that, based on the licensee classification, there was no evidence the City breached a duty to LeFont even though there was conflicting evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer that the condition was not open nor obvious and was in fact a hazard?
  
3. Did the circuit court err in granting a directed verdict to the City on the grounds that there was no evidence that could establish any constructive notice of the condition even though there was evidence from which a jury could infer that the City should have known of the existence of the condition?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 5, 2015, Christine LeFont filed a civil action against the City of Myrtle Beach and the Myrtle Beach Convention Center Hotel Corporation. She filed this action in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas. (R. 10-21, Complaint). LeFont alleged a premises liability action against the defendants and sought to recover damages. (*Id.*).

The City filed an Answer on March 20, 2015, denying liability and raising affirmative defenses generally alleging, in part, that LeFont action was subject to certain provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code §§ 15-78-60 (1), (4), (5), (8), (9), (13), (15), (16), and (20). (R. 25, Answer, ¶ 26).

Prior to trial, the parties stipulated to dismissal of Myrtle Beach Convention Center Hotel Corporation as a defendant. The City was the sole Defendant which proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. on September 6, 2016.

At trial, following the close of the Plaintiff's evidence, the City orally moved for directed verdict. Judge Dennis denied these motions from the bench. (R. 178, ll. 12-13) (R. 180, ll. 1-6) (R. 181, ll. 3-7, 14-15; R. 182, ll. 16-17, 23-24; R. 183, ll. 4-7) (R. 184, ll. 6-10) (R. 184, ll. 18-20; R. 185, ll. 6-8).

Subsequently, following the close of the evidence at trial, the City orally moved for directed verdict, arguing in relevant part the same grounds from its earlier motions. (R. 311, l. 21 – R. 318, l. 9). Judge Dennis granted, from the bench, directed verdict to the City ruling that: (1) LeFont was

unquestionably a licensee; (2) there was no evidence that established City breached its duty owed to LeFont as licensee; and (3) there was no evidence that the City had constructive notice. (R. 327, ll. 4-6, 16-18; R. 328, ll. 10-15, 23-25; R. 329, ll. 10-14) (R. 329, ll. 1-2) (R. 329, ll. 21-24). Then, by written Form 4 Order filed September 7, 2016, Judge Dennis ordered verdict for the City. (R. 3-4, Form 4 Order).

Thereafter, on September 20, 2016, LeFont timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration and/or Alter or Amend Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and New Trial ("Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration" hereinafter). (R. 344-354, Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration). The City did not file in opposition to LeFont's Motion. More than seven months later, Judge Dennis denied Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, without oral argument, by Order filed April 27, 2017. (R. 6, Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration).

On May 26, 2017, LeFont filed and served her Notice of Appeal of the circuit court's orders and rulings in the instant case. (R. 355-361, Notice of Appeal).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The instant case is a premises liability matter involving a static defect in the paved rear parking lot at the City of Myrtle Beach's Convention Center. On August 13, 2014, Christine LeFont and her husband, John Gambelli, went to the City of Myrtle Beach's Convention Center for a trade show being held there. (R. 50). They were vendors of a product. (R. 49, ll. 17-

20). As vendors, LeFont and her husband had paid money in order to be able to be there to present their products. (R. 308, l. 23 – R. 309, l. 1).

LeFont parked her vehicle in the small parking lot in the rear of the City's convention center. (R. 53, l. 14 – p. 54, l. 22). She exited her vehicle and walked towards the convention center when she unexpectedly encountered a hole in the parking lot surfacing that her foot dipped into. (R. 55, ll. 21-22; R. 61, ll. 9-21). The hole was approximately four to six inches in diameter and one and one half inches deep – the thickness of a full layer of asphalt. (R. 335–338, Plaintiff's Exhibits 4, 5, 6, and 7; R. 154, ll. 13-25). Upon her foot dipping into the hole, LeFont stumbled and ultimately fell down onto the parking lot. (R. 61, l. 23 – R. 62, l. 2). In the fall, LeFont sustained personal injuries, including fractures to both of her arms. (R. 62, l. 24 – R. 63, l. 2; R. 68-72).

#### ARGUMENT

On appeal the grant of a directed verdict motion, this Court must reserve the judgment when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is governed by an error of law. *See Webb v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 639, 615 S.E.2d 440 (2005).

In making this determination, this Court applies the same standard of review as the trial court and is required to “view the evidence and the inferences which reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.” *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006). This Court is not to

weigh the evidence, but must instead determine if there is *any* evidence from which the jury is warranted in making a finding. See *Washington v. Whitaker*, 317 S.C. 108, 113-14, 451 S.E.2d 894, 897-98 (1994).

The Court may grant the directed verdict only when the evidence yields but one inference. See *The Huffines Co. v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 187, 617 S.E.2d 125, 129 (Ct. App. 2006). However, the Court must deny the motion when either the evidence yields more than one inference or the inferences are in doubt. See *Law v. South Carolina Dep't. of Corr.*, 368 S.C. 424, 434, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). In doing so, the Court does not have the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. See *Hoover v. Broome*, 324 S.C. 531, 538, 479 S.E.2d 62, 66 (Ct. App. 1996).

A directed verdict must be denied if a verdict against the City was reasonably possible when the facts are “liberally construed” in Appellant’s favor. *Padgett v. Colleton County*, 383 S.C. 431, 435, 679 S.E.2d 533, 536 (Ct. App. 2009). When these standards are applied properly, they yield the conclusion that the circuit court erred in granting the City’s directed verdict motion and in denying the Plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration and for a new trial.

In granting directed verdict to the City, the circuit court ruled from the bench that: (1) LeFont was a licensee as a matter of law; (2) based on this classification, the City’s limited duty to her was to “take care of things that

are known to be actual dangers or hazardous situations that they knew or should have known somebody else would have been” (R. 328, ll. 11-14); and (3) there is no “evidence that would establish constructive notice of the pothole and therefore require that the City to take any action independent of what was done.” (R. 329, ll. 21-24).

The circuit court committed reversible error by: (1) classifying LeFont’s status as a licensee as a matter of law; (2) based upon the erroneous licensee classification, further compounding that error in applying solely the standard of care owed a licensee to then find, as a matter of law, no evidence that the City breached that duty of care.

**I. The circuit court erroneously granted directed verdict that LeFont was a licensee as a matter of law despite evidence reasonably yielding the inference that she was an invitee.**

The circuit court directed a verdict in favor of the City concluding that LeFont was a licensee as a matter of law. (R. 327, ll. 5-6; R. 329, ll. 10-14). The circuit court reasoned that LeFont was a licensee as a matter of law and could not be an invitee because: (1) “the convention center leases to somebody for their benefit, and the benefit is certainly indirectly;” and (2) “because they don’t control who comes or goes or who’s asked to come or go.” (R. 327, ll. 7-8, 9-10).

Of course, the correct classification of persons who come onto a premises is of absolute importance in South Carolina premises liability cases because “[t]he level of care owed is dependent upon the class of the person

present.” *Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light*, 340 S.C. 438, 444, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2000).

“Ordinarily, when conflicting evidence is presented as to whether someone is a licensee or invitee, the question becomes one of fact and as such, is properly left to the jury.” *Vogt. v. Murraywood Swim and Racquet Club*, 357 S.C. 506, 511, 593 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Hoover v. Broome*, 324 S.C. 531, 537-38, 479 S.E.2d 62, 66 (Ct. App. 1996); *see also Harris v. Univ. of S.C.*, 391 S.C. 518, 523-24, 706 S.E.2d 45, 47-48 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding whether plaintiff is an invitee or licensee is a jury issue); *see also Nesbitt v. Lewis*, 335 S.C. 441, 448, 517 S.E.2d 11, 15 (1999) (citing *Hoover* for the proposition that it is a factual determination whether an individual acted as a licensee or invitee). Similarly, “[t]he loss of invitee status is usually a question for the jury.” *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 733, 541 S.E.2d 857, 870 (Ct. App. 2001).

The circuit court erred in granting a directed verdict on the ground that LeFont was licensee as a matter of law at the time of her injury because: (1) there was evidence that LeFont’s entry to the City’s premises was to the benefit of both LeFont and the City; (2) there was evidence that LeFont entered the City’s premises, and specifically into the parking lot at issue, through an express invitation and implied invitation; and (3) there was evidence that LeFont came to and entered the City’s premises for her own

business connected to the purpose for which the City's convention center was held open.

Of course, "[i]nvitees include patrons of stores, patients in a physician's office, persons visiting a filling station to use the restroom or vending machine or to ask directions, and workmen invited to work on the premises." *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 717, 541 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2001). "However, the class of persons qualifying as business visitors **is not limited to** those coming upon the land for a purpose directly or indirectly connected with the business conducted thereon by the possessor, **but includes as well** those coming upon the land for a purpose connected with their own business, which itself is directly or indirectly connected with a purpose for which the possessor uses the land." *Id.* (emphases added).

**A. There was evidence of mutual benefit.**

There was evidence from which the jury could reasonably infer that LeFont provided a benefit to the City.

First, testimony indicated that LeFont's purpose for coming to the City's convention center was a result of the City's convention center being paid money for rent. (R. 85, ll. 6-9, 17-20; R. 308, ll. 19-21). LeFont testified that her and her husband paid between \$1,800.00 and \$2,500.00 in order to be able to be there at the City's convention center. (R. 308, l. 22 – R. 309, l. 1).

Second, the City's employee, Perez, testified that she believed vendors do in fact pay for the booths when coming to the show held at the City's convention center. (R. 263, ll. 7-10). Third, the City's employee, Skellett,

similarly testified that she believed vendors do pay in order to be a vendor at the show. (R. 289, l. 24 – R. 290, l. 22).

**B. There was evidence of express invitation and implied invitation.**

There was evidence in the record below from which the jury could reasonably infer that LeFont's presence on the convention center premises was the product of express invitation and implied invitation.

**1. Express invitation.**

There was evidence in the record below from which the jury could reasonably infer that LeFont's presence on the convention center premises was the product of express invitation. The City's employee, Skellett, testified that vendors are invited to the convention center to display their wares and goods. (R. 290, l. 23 – R. 291, l. 4).

**2. Implied invitation.**

There was evidence in the record below from which the jury could reasonably infer that LeFont's presence on the convention center premises was the product of implied invitation. Testimony from the City's own employee, Perez, explained that vendors may walk through the employee parking lot. (R. 264, ll. 3-5). She also testified that vendors may also use the lot for unloading and loading purposes and that it is expected that vendors may be walking back and forth from the lot and the convention center. (R. 264, ll. 6-12). LeFont testified that, on the day of her fall, she was specifically permitted into the parking lot by a guard working in the lot. (R. 54, ll. 3-6; R.

309, ll. 2-10). The guard in the lot opened the gate to let LeFont into the parking lot. *Id.*

**C. There was evidence that her entry was for business connected to the purpose for which the premises were held open.**

There was evidence in the record below from which the jury could reasonably infer that LeFont's whole reason for entering the premises was for her business connected to the purpose for which the City's convention center premises was held open. Again, the purpose for which the City's convention center was held open that day was for the trade show being held that weekend. The record is replete with testimony that LeFont and her husband came onto the premises specifically for their business which was connected to the enter purpose for which the City's convention center was held open.

**II. Applying the improper licensee classification, the circuit court erroneously granted directed verdict finding the City, as a matter of law, did not breach its duty owed to LeFont.**

After erroneously ruling that LeFont was unquestionably a licensee as a matter of law, the circuit court then ruled that the City, as a matter of law, did not breach its duty owed to LeFont. (R. 329, ll. 1-2).

**A. The circuit court erred by finding that the condition complained of was open and obvious as a matter of law.**

In granting directed verdict to the City, the circuit court applied the incorrect licensee classification and implicitly ruled, as a matter of law, that the hole in the parking lot was open and obvious. (R. 329, ll. 18-20). This ruling was in error because the record is replete with testimony and evidence

that is conflicting as to the openness and obviousness of the hole and, furthermore, the inferences yieldable from said conflicting evidence are also in doubt.

First, LeFont testified that she did not see the hole. (R. p. 78, ll. 10-11). She further testified that if you are walking and looking straight down while doing so, that you may see the hole. (R. 78, l. 15). Second, Therese Perez, an employee of the City's Convention Services Department, testified that she "didn't see anything obvious that she could have fallen on." (R. 240, ll. 8-9). Third, Dr. Durig testified that, in the photographs depicting the hole, the hole was easy for him to see when he was looking for what shouldn't be here. (R. 165, ll. 7-16). The testimony and the exhibits depicting the hole present conflicting positions from which a jury, not the circuit court, should be permitted to determine whether the hole was in fact open and obvious. The circuit court's finding otherwise was in error.

**B. The circuit court erred by finding that the condition complained of was not a hazardous condition.**

In directing a verdict to the City, the circuit court appears to have implicitly found, or at least reasoned that, the hole in the parking lot was not a hazard. (R. 324, ll. 24-25; R. 325, ll. 1-6). This was in error. There was clear evidence in the record that the hole was in fact a hazardous condition.

At trial, Bryan R. Durig, Ph.D., P.E. testified as an expert witness in the field of engineering. Dr. Durig testified regarding his investigation into the condition in the parking lot and his opinions regarding the condition. Dr.

Durig testified that the hole was between 4 to 6 inches in diameter and approximately 1.5 inches deep. He specifically testified that the hole was the depth of a full layer of asphalt. (R. 154, ll. 23-25). Dr. Durig testified that the hole is located “right behind” the “first parking spot” in the City’s employee parking lot. (R. 157, ll. 4-5).

Dr. Durig opined that there are both codes and standards applicable to the City’s parking lot. (R. 157, ll. 9-10). First, Dr. Durig testified that the International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC)—which is typically a permissive code in South Carolina—has been adopted by the City of Myrtle Beach as mandatory code and is therefore “part of their ordinances.” (R. 157, ll. 14-21). Dr. Durig opined that the hole LeFont tripped in was violative of Section 302.3, IPMC, which requires that “all sidewalks, walkways, stairs, driveways, parking spaces and similar areas shall be kept in a proper state of repair . . . and maintained free from hazardous conditions.” (R. 157, l. 23 – R. 158, l. 2). Second, Dr. Durig testified that the American Society of Testing and Materials (ASTM) provides an applicable industry standard—ASTMF 1637 entitled Standard Practice for Safe Walking Surfaces. (R. 158, ll. 7-18). Dr. Durig opined that the hole LeFont tripped in was violative of ASTMF 1637. Together, Dr. Durig testified that ASTMF 1637 “will help you defined what is a hazardous condition. When the IPMC says you need to maintain it free of hazards, this helps define some of what those hazards will be or can be.” (R. 158, ll. 21-24).

Dr. Durig testified that “[t]here’s several sections of the standard that it [the hole in the City’s parking lot] would violate. (R. 159, ll. 13-14). Furthermore, he testified that the City’s parking lot where LeFont fell was not being maintained in accordance with industry standards. (R. 159, ll. 15-21).

In the face of this clear evidence in the record, for the circuit court to find that the hole was not a hazardous condition, is patently in error. The circuit court decided a question which was squarely for the jury’s determination.

**III. The circuit court erroneously granted directed verdict finding there was no evidence that would establish constructive notice.**

The circuit court ruled that it did not “find that there’s any evidence that would establish constructive notice of the pothole and therefore require that the City to take any action independent of what was done.” (R. 329, ll. 21-24). This was reached and decided in error as a result of the circuit court’s erroneous ruling that the Plaintiff was a licensee as a matter of law. Then, as a result of that ruling, the circuit court applied a licensee analysis, further compounding the error to then conclude, as a matter of law, that there was no evidence that the City had notice of the condition in the center of its own employee parking lot. The circuit court erroneously overlooked the existence of evidence and failed to view the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to LeFont.

Constructive notice is a legal inference which substitutes for actual notice. It is notice imputed to a person whose knowledge of facts is sufficient to put him on inquiry; if these facts were pursued with due diligence, they would lead to other disclosed facts. *See Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n*, 332 S.C. 54, 64, 504 S.E.2d 117, 122 (1998).

Here, there was conflicting evidence presented as to whether the City had constructive notice of the hole in the City's convention center employee parking lot. In the light most favorable to LeFont, there was at least some evidence that: (1) there were numerous City personnel, regularly and continuously, within this area of the hole who could have seen and reported the hole; (2) the hole condition had possibly existed for a while; and (3) the City had an established practice to deal with unsafe conditions on its premises.

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