The State of South Carolina
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 09 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
Court of Common Pleas
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001258
Case No. 2015-CP-26-00034

Christine LeFont, Appellant,

v.

City of Myrtle Beach; Myrtle Beach
Convention Center Hotel Corporation, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Christian Stegmaier
Amy L. Neuschafer
COLLINS & LACY, P.C.
11945 Grandhaven Drive, Suite D
Murrells Inlet, SC 29576
t. 843.353.2350
Attorneys for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court's ruling based on the Tort Claims Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15)) is the law of the case on account of Appellant's failure to raise issue on appeal.
- II. If the ruling on the Tort Claims Act is not the law of the case, whether the Circuit Court erred by granting Respondent's motion for directed verdict based on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15).
- III. Whether the Circuit Court erred by granting directed verdict based on Appellant's failure to present evidence that the hole in the employee parking lot was a dangerous condition that Respondent either created or had actual or constructive notice of its existence.
- IV. Whether the Circuit Court erred by granting directed verdict based on Appellant's failure to present evidence that Respondent breached a duty to Appellant by failing to warn Appellant of a dangerous concealed condition known to Respondent.
- V. Whether Appellant's arguments concerning constructive notice and her status as an invitee or business visitor were preserved for appellate review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Christine LeFont filed the original Complaint on January 5, 2015 against the City of Myrtle Beach (hereinafter “Respondent” or “City”) and the Myrtle Beach Convention Center Hotel Corp. Appellant asserted a single negligence cause of action against both Defendants. The City filed a timely Answer denying liability and raising affirmative defenses. Specifically, the City asserted Appellant’s claims were subject to the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (hereinafter “Tort Claims Act”), including specifically S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15). (R. 25, Answer, ¶ 26). The parties subsequently entered a Stipulation dismissing the Convention Center Hotel Corp..

The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. the week of September 5, 2016. On September 7, 2016, at the close of all evidence, Respondent moved for directed verdict. (R. 311, l. 21 – R. 318, l. 9). The trial court granted Respondent’s motion and directed a verdict on multiple grounds including a lack of evidence establishing liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15) and under a traditional premises liability analysis. (R. 320, l. 5 – R. 329, l. 24.) The Order granting directed verdict to the City was entered on September 7, 2016. (R. 3-4, Form 4 Order).

On September 20, 2016, Appellant filed a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. (R. 344-354, Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration). The trial court denied Appellant’s motion by Order dated April 27, 2017 (R. 5, Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration). Appellant served a Notice of Appeal on May 26, 2017 (R. 355-361, Notice of Appeal). Appellant appeals the September 7, 2016 Order directing a verdict for the defense and the April 27, 2017 Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This premises liability action arises out of Appellant's trip and fall in a parking lot behind the Myrtle Beach Convention Center on August 13, 2014. Appellant and her husband, who own a business importing and distributing a specialty energy drink, were participating in a trade show at the Myrtle Beach Convention Center organized by H.T. Hackney, a large food distributor. (R. 49, l. 17-25). The food show is open on Saturday and Sunday, August 12 and 13, 2014. (R. 65, l. 15-16). Appellant's incident occurred on the second day of the show. (R. 273, l. 21-25).

The Convention Center has a large lot dedicated to public parking. A smaller employee parking lot is located immediately behind the Convention Center. Appellant was running late the morning of her incident. (R. 93, l. 17-18). Appellant entered the employee parking lot and dropped off her husband near the loading docks allowing him to easily and quickly carry boxes of their drink product into the Exhibit Hall. (R. 52, l. 16-20). Appellant then parked in the employee lot believing it would take only a few minutes to go inside and find out if she needed to go back to the warehouse for more product. (R. 54, l. 18-20; R. 82, l. 9-14, 24 – R. 83, l. 16). As she walked towards the Convention Center, Appellant contends she stepped in a hole or depression in the pavement and fell. (R. 55, l. 21-22; R. 61, l. 9-21; R. 61, l. 12 – R. 62, l. 2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 50 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the judge may direct a verdict when, at trial, the case presents only questions of law. Rule 50(a), SCRCP. On a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion and deny the motion where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt. Jinks v. Richland County, 355 S.C. 341, 345, 585 S.E.2d 281, 286 (2003). “However, this rule does not authorize submission of speculative, theoretical, or hypothetical views to the jury.” Proctor v. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control, 368 S.C. 279, 292-93, 628 S.E.2d 496, 503 (Ct. App. 2006).

In reviewing a grant of directed verdict, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court. However, the appellate court will only reverse the trial court’s ruling on a directed verdict motion when there is “no evidence to support the ruling or where the ruling is controlled by an error of law.” Law v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 368 S.C. 424, 434-35, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). Furthermore, the appellate court must determine “whether a verdict for a party opposing the motion would be reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his [or her] favor.” Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 463, 629 S.E.2d 653, 663 (2006). However, both the trial court and appellate court are only concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence and neither have the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in testimony. Id. See also Hoover v. Broome, 324 S.C. 531, 538, 479 S.E.2d 62, 66 (Ct. App. 1996).

DISCUSSION/ARGUMENT

I. **Appellant Failed to Present Evidence Establishing Liability Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15)**

A. The trial court's ruling based on the Tort Claims Act is the law of the case.

As an initial matter, Respondent notes that Appellant has not appealed the trial court's ruling based on application of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15). The trial judge spent considerable time explaining the application of the Tort Claims Act and his reliance on Major v City of Hartsville, 410 S.C. 1, 763 S.E.2d 348 (2014) which similarly involved § 15-78-60(15). (R. 320, l. 5 – R. 321, l.24; R. 322, l. 13 – R. 324, l. 22; R. 326, l. 21 – 24). Appellant's brief, however, contains no challenge to the court's ruling under the Tort Claims Act. Therefore, the trial court's ruling on this ground is the law of the case. See Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Hous. Corp., 338 S.C. S.C. 171, 525 S.E.2d 869 (2000) (an unappealed order, right or wrong, is ordinarily the law of the case); Resolution Trust Corp. v. Eagle Lake & Golf Condominiums, 310 S.C. 473, 427 S.E.2d 646 (1993) (the trial judge's procedural ruling is the law of the case since it has not been appealed); Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case); First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 566, 511 S.E.2d 372, 387 (Ct. App. 1998) ("holding an "unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance"). Appellant's failure to appeal all grounds of the directed verdict order, therefore, requires affirmance.

B. The evidence supports the trial court's ruling under the Tort Claims Act.

Even if this Court construes Appellant's argument to encompass a challenge to the trial court's application of § 15-78-60(15), the trial court's directed verdict ruling should nevertheless

be affirmed because Appellant failed to present evidence establishing liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15).

The Tort Claims Act is the exclusive remedy for torts committed by a governmental entity or its employees. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(b); see also Benton v. Roger C. Peace Hospital, 313 S.C. 520, 523, 443 S.E.2d 537, 538 (1994). S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60 sets out numerous exceptions to the waiver of sovereign immunity. Subsection 15 provides in relevant part:

The governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from:

.... a defect or a condition in, on, or under, or overhanging a highway, road, street, causeway, bridge, or other public way caused by a third party unless the defect or condition is not corrected by the particular governmental entity responsible for the maintenance within a reasonable time after actual or constructive notice.

S.C. Code Ann. 15-78-60(15)

Accordingly, to prove liability under subsection 15, a plaintiff must show the governmental entity was on notice of the condition that proximately caused his or her injury and failed to correct the condition within a reasonable time after receiving notice.

Appellant presented no evidence that Respondent had knowledge – either actual or constructive – of the hole in the employee parking lot. Appellant’s brief directs the Court to no testimony that any employee of Respondent had actual knowledge the hole was present before Appellant fell. Instead, Appellant argues the City was on constructive notice because the hole was located within the employee parking lot. Of course, the fact that the hole existed on the day of Appellant’s fall is not enough to prove constructive notice. It is well settled that proving constructive notice requires evidence that the condition existed for such a period of time that it should have been discovered in the use of reasonable care. Fickling v. City of Charleston, 372

S.C. 597, 643 S.E.2d 110 (Ct. App. 2007). Appellant's brief points to no evidence establishing when the hole was created or how long it had been present prior to Appellant's injury. The trial court correctly determined Appellant had failed to meet the required evidentiary burden and properly granted directed verdict. See Wintersteen v. Food Lion, Inc., 336 S.C. 132, 518 S.E.2d 828 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding Plaintiff failed to establish constructive notice when determining how long substance was on floor would be speculation); Wimberly v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc., 252 S.C. 117, 165 S.E.2d 627 (1969) (concluding trial court should have directed a verdict in favor of the defendant because "no evidence is pointed out which reasonably tends to prove that the rice was on the floor at any particular time prior to the actual fall. The jury should not be permitted to speculate that it was on the floor for such a length of time as to infer that defendant was negligent in failing to detect and remove it"); Pennington v. Zayre Corp., 252 S.C. 176, 179, 165 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1969) (affirming grant of involuntary nonsuit in case where plaintiff slipped on plastic bags on the floor: "The plastic bags were obviously on the floor at the time of the fall. There is no evidence in the record that the bags were on the floor for any time prior thereto. To hold that the bags had been there sufficiently long that they should have been discovered by the merchant would be pure speculation.").

In so ruling, the Circuit Court noted the differences between the present matter and Major v. City of Hartsville, 410 S.C. 1, 763 S.E.2d 348 (2014). (R. 323, l. 10-19). Specifically, Major dealt with a frequently recurring problem with rutting at a particular intersection. Major also presented evidence of the City's practice of repairing the recurring ruts. There was also testimony from City employees that additional efforts to repair the ruts at the subject location were suspended because it was deemed "a fruitless effort because a few days later ... it was right back to the same condition." Major v. City of Hartsville, 410 S.C. 1, 3, 763 S.E.2d 348, 350

(2014). As the trial judge noted, Appellant has presented no evidence, like that presented in Major, of a recurring problem or a history of Respondent repairing similar problems in the employee parking lot. The trial court, therefore properly granted directed verdict based on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(15).

II. Appellant Failed to Present Evidence that Respondent Created the Dangerous Condition or Had Actual or Constructive Notice of the Condition.

Under the traditional premises liability analysis, recovery for injuries caused by a dangerous or defective condition on a defendant's property requires a showing that defendant committed a specific act that created the dangerous condition or that defendant had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition and failed to remedy it. Anderson v. Racetrac Petroleum, Inc., 296 S.C. 204, 205, 371 S.E.2d 530, 531 (1988); Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton, 382 S.C. 397, 404, 675 S.E.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 2009).

In showing a defendant created a dangerous condition, a plaintiff must also present evidence that defendant created the condition through some negligent act or omission. Pringle v. SLR, Inc. of Summerton, 382 S.C. 397, 675 S.E.2d 783 (Ct. App. 2009). The party alleging negligence has the burden of proving actionable negligence and “[t]his burden cannot be met by relying upon the theory that the thing speaks for itself or that the very fact of injury indicates negligence.” King v. J.C. Penney Company, 238 S.C. 336, 120 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1961); see also Hunter v. Dixie Home Stores, 232 S.C. 139, 101 S.E.2d 262, 265 (1957) (noting “[i]t is elementary that in order for a plaintiff to recover damages there must be proof not only of injury, but also that it was caused by the actionable negligence of the defendant. It should be kept in mind that the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur does not apply in this State.”).

Appellant has directed this Court to no evidence in the record showing or creating an inference that Respondent created the hole in the employee parking lot. There is no evidence

establishing or tending to show when the hole was created or that it was created by Respondent. Additionally, there is no evidence the condition was created by a negligent act or omission of Respondent.

On the second prong of the premises liability analysis, the record contains no evidence that Respondent had actual or constructive knowledge the hole was present. The only evidence in the record relating to the length of time the hole was present was that it was present the day of Appellant's incident. However, as the trial judge noted, the fact that the hole existed on the day of the incident does not create an inference from which it can be decided that the hole was present for a sufficient length of time that it should have been discovered through reasonable care. (R. 325, l. 10 – R. 326, l. 5). Without evidence that Respondent created the hole by a negligent act or omission or evidence showing how long the hole existed or that Respondent had recurring problems with pot holes in the employee parking lot, the trial court properly directed a verdict. See Pennington v. Zayre Corp., 252 S.C. 176, 179, 165 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1969).

In support of her argument that the Court erred in finding no evidence of constructive notice, Appellant asserts: (1) City personnel were regularly “within the area of the hole”; (2) the hole “had *possibly* existed for a while;” and (3) the City had an established practice to deal with unsafe conditions on the premises. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 14 (emphasis added)). However, none of these factors establish constructive notice or create an inference from which a jury could find constructive notice.

Appellant's first point – that employees of the City are regularly in the employee parking lot – was not raised to the trial court and is therefore not preserved for review. See Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) (finding issue must be raised to and ruled upon by circuit court to be preserved); Watson v Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 756 S.E.2d 155

(Ct.App.2014) (declining to consider issues that were not addressed by court or raised in appellant's 59(e) motion.). Notwithstanding the question of issue preservation, the fact that City employees regularly park in the employee parking lot does not mean the hole was present for a sufficient length of time that it should have been discovered. Without evidence establishing when the hole was created and that it had been present for a sufficient length of time that Respondent should have reasonably discovered it through the exercise of reasonable care, there can be no finding or inference of constructive knowledge.

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